NASA/TM-2009-215939



Operational Improvements From Using the In-Trail Procedure in the North Atlantic Organized Track System

Ryan C. Chartrand NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

Frank J. L. Bussink and Thomas J. Graff National Institute of Aerospace, Hampton, Virginia

Kenneth M. Jones NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA scientific and technical information (STI) program plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI program operates under the auspices of the Agency Chief Information Officer. It collects, organizes, provides for archiving, and disseminates NASA's STI. The NASA STI program provides access to the NASA Aeronautics and Space Database and its public interface, the NASA Technical Report Server, thus providing one of the largest collections of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. Results are published in both non-NASA channels and by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA counterpart of peerreviewed formal professional papers, but having less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
- CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or co-sponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and missions, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. Englishlanguage translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services also include creating custom thesauri, building customized databases, and organizing and publishing research results.

For more information about the NASA STI program, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI program home page at <u>http://www.sti.nasa.gov</u>
- E-mail your question via the Internet to <u>help@sti.nasa.gov</u>
- Fax your question to the NASA STI Help Desk at 443-757-5803
- Phone the NASA STI Help Desk at 443-757-5802
- Write to: NASA STI Help Desk NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7115 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320

NASA/TM-2009-215939



Operational Improvements From Using the In-Trail Procedure in the North Atlantic Organized Track System

Ryan C. Chartrand NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

Frank J. L. Bussink and Thomas J. Graff National Institute of Aerospace, Hampton, Virginia

Kenneth M. Jones NASA Langley Research Center, Hampton, Virginia

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Langley Research Center Hampton, Virginia 23681-2199

October 2009

Available from:

NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7115 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320 443-757-5802

Table of Contents

ABBREVIATIONS	.VП
DEFINITIONS	IX
ABSTRACT	1
INTRODUCTION	1
BACKGROUND	1
IN-TRAIL PROCEDURE	3
EXPERIMENT TOOL	5
DEVELOPMENT	6
EXPERIMENT DESIGN	7
SIMILATION VALUEATION AND SCENADIO CDEATION	/
A SSIMPTIONS AND CONFECTIDATIONS	
	14
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	16
FINAL TRAFFIC DENSITIES.	17
ALTITUDE REQUESTS AND APPROVAL RATES	17
FUEL ANALYSIS	23
REFERENCES	35
APPENDIX A NOTAM FOR NATOTS - MARCH 7, 2005	36
APPENDIX B AVERAGE COUNT OF AIRCRAFT EXPERIENCING A FUEL SAVINGS OR PENALT	ГҮ
	38
FIGURE 1: FINAL ITP DISPLAY AS USED IN HITL EXPERIMENT	3
FIGURE 2: CALCULATION OF ITP DISTANCE	4
FIGURE 3: SCREENSHOT OF TRAFFIC MANAGER USER INTERFACE	6
FIGURE 4: NATOTS LOADING COMPARISON FOR EASTBOUND TRACKS	10
FIGURE 5: TRAFFIC DISTRIBUTION IN TIME OF AIRCRAFT WITHIN THE NATOTS	11
FIGURE 6: DENSITY COMPARISON FOR REQUESTED ENTRY AT OPTIMUM ALTITUDE (RM0)	13
FIGURE 7: DENSITY COMPARISON FOR REQUESTED ENTRY AT COMPROMISE ALTITUDE (RM1)	13
FIGURE 8: PERCENTAGE OF AIRCRAFT THAT MADE ALTITUDE CHANGE REQUESTS (RM1)	18
FIGURE 9: PERCENTAGE OF ALTITUDE CHANGE REQUESTS APPROVED (RM1)	19
FIGURE 10: PERCENTAGE OF ALTITUDE CHANGE REQUESTS THAT USED ITP (RM1)	19
FIGURE 11: AVERAGE PERCENTAGE OF AIRCRAFT THAT MADE ALTITUDE CHANGE REQUESTS (RM0)	21
FIGURE 12: PERCENTAGE OF ALTITUDE CHANGE REQUESTS APPROVED (KMU)	21
FIGURE 13: PERCENTAGE OF ALTITUDE CHANGE REQUESTS THAT USED ITP (KMO)	22
FIGURE 14: AIRCRAFT CAPABLE OF MANEUVERING IN THE BASELINE SCENARIOS	23
FIGURE 15: AVERAGE FUEL FLOW SAVINGS FOR ADS-B IN EQUIPPED AIRCRAFT (RMT)	24
FIGURE 16: AVERAGE FUEL FLOW SAVINGS FOR ADS-B IN EQUIPPED AIRCRAFT (KMU)	25
FIGURE 17: AVERAGE FUEL FLOW SAVINGS FOR ADS-B IN EQUIPPED AIRCRAFT THAT EXPERIENCED A DIFFERENCE	3
FROM THE BASELINE (KM1)	26
FIGURE 18: AVERAGE FUEL FLOW SAVINGS FOR ADS-B IN EQUIPPED AIRCRAFT THAT EXPERIENCED A DIFFERENCE	Ξ
FROM THE BASELINE (KMU)	27
FIGURE 19: DISTRIBUTION OF NORMALIZED FUEL SAVINGS (KM1, 60_10 SA)	29
FIGURE 2V. DIGIRIBUTION OF NORMALIZED FUEL SAVINGS (KIVIO, OV TO SA)	

FIGURE 21: DISTRIBUTION OF NORMALIZED FUEL SAVINGS ((RM0, 60_	10 SA+ITP)
FIGURE 22: DISTRIBUTION OF NORMALIZED FUEL SAVINGS (RM0, 90	80 SA+ITP)

TABLE 1: 10-MINUTE MACH NUMBER TECHNIQUE USED TO SEPARATE AIRCRAFT IN THE NORTH ATLANTIC	2
TABLE 2: REAL DAY TRAFFIC DENSITY LEVEL	8
TABLE 3: EXPERIMENT TRAFFIC DENSITY LEVELS	8
TABLE 4: EXPERIMENT DESIGN MATRIX	9
TABLE 5: ATC ALTITUDE ASSIGNMENT SEQUENCE	12
TABLE 6: A VERAGE NUMBER OF FLIGHTS IN THE NATOTS	14
TABLE 7: TMX PILOT MODEL REQUEST AVAILABILITY	16
TABLE 8: TRAFFIC DENSITIES BY TRAFFIC FLOW AND REQUEST METHOD	17
TABLE 9: A VERAGE NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT WITH A FUEL SAVINGS/PENALTY (RM1)	28
TABLE 10: AVERAGE NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT WITH A FUEL SAVINGS/PENALTY (RM0)	28
TABLE 11: MAGNITUDE OF AVERAGE ALTITUDE FROM REQUESTED ALTITUDE (THOUSANDS OF FEET)	32
TABLE 12: AVERAGE ALTITUDE FROM REQUESTED ALTITUDE (THOUSANDS OF FEET)	32

Abbreviations

ADS-B	Automatic Dependant Surveillance-Broadcast
ADS-B IN	Automatic Dependant Surveillance-Broadcast (receive)
ADS-B OUT	Automatic Dependant Surveillance-Broadcast (transmit)
ASAS	Airborne Separation Assistance System
ATC	Air Traffic Control
ATM	Air Traffic Management
ATOL	Airspace and Traffic Operations Laboratory
ATSA	Airborne Traffic Situation Awareness
ATSP	Air Traffic Service Provider
BADA	Base of Aircraft Data
CDTI	Cockpit Display of Traffic Information
CPDLC	Controller Pilot Data-Link Communication
d _a	Distance of aircraft A to common point
ů, d _b	Distance of aircraft B to common point
ditte	ITP distance
DME	Distance Measuring Equipment
Eurocae	European Organization for Civil Aviation Equipment
ft	Feet
FL.	Flight level
FMS	Flight Management System
GFS	Global Forecast System
HITL	Human-In-The-Loon
HF	High Frequency
	International Civil Aviation Organization
ТР	In-Trail Procedure
LTT LTT	Knots
I aPC	Langley Research Center
Lanc I be/br	Pounds per hour
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NADA	North Atlantic Organized Track System
	National Aerospace Laboratory (Netherlands)
NLK nmi	Nautional miles
	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NOTAM	Notice to Airmon
	Notice to Alfinen
	Decific Organized Treats System
PACOIS	Pacific Organized Track System
RADAK	Radio Detection and Ranging
	Requirements Focus Group
RICA	Radio Technical Commission for Aviation (formerly)
	Situation Awareness
SASP	Separation and Airspace Safety Panel
SUPAC	South Pacific
Srk TCAS	Safety, Performance and Interoperability Requirements
	Traffic alert and Collision Avoidance System
	Traine Density Analyzer
	I ramic Manager (NLK/NASA)
U	NATOIS track Uniform
v	NATOTS track Victor

VHF	Very High Frequency
W	NATOTS track Whiskey
X	NATOTS track X-ray
Y	NATOTS track Yankee
Ζ	NATOTS track Zulu

Definitions

Automatic Dependent Surveillance-Broadcast (ADS-B). A system by which airplanes can constantly broadcast state, environment, and intent information. This can include: current position and altitude, category of aircraft, ground speed, flight number, whether the aircraft is turning, climbing or descending, and integrity indicators over a radio datalink.

Flight Level. A surface of constant atmospheric pressure, which is related to a specific pressure datum of 29.92 inches of mercury (1013.2 hectopascals), and is separated from other such surfaces by specific pressure intervals. Each is stated in three digits that represent hundreds of feet (ft). For example, flight level (FL) 370 represents a barometric altimeter indication of 37,000 ft.

Following Climb or Descent. A Same Track climb or descent performed by an aircraft when following a Reference Aircraft.

Ground Speed Differential. The difference between the In-Trail Procedure (ITP) Aircraft's ground speed and a Reference Aircraft or Same Direction Potentially Blocking Aircraft's ground speed.

In-Trail Procedure (ITP). A procedure employed by an aircraft that desires to change its flight level to a new flight level by climbing or descending in front of or behind one or two Same Track, Potentially Blocking Aircraft which are at an Intervening Flight Level.

Initial Flight Level. The flight level of the ITP Aircraft when it determines a climb or descent is desired.

Intermediate Flight Level. Any flight level between the Requested Flight Level and the Initial Flight Level of the ITP Aircraft.

Intervening Flight Level. Any Intermediate Flight Level that has Same Direction aircraft whose ADS-B report data are available to the ITP Aircraft.

ITP Aircraft. An aircraft that is fully qualified (from an equipment, operator, and flight crew qualification standpoint) to conduct an ITP and whose flight crew is considering a change of flight level.

ITP Criteria. A set of conditions that must be satisfied prior to initiating an ITP request or executing an ITP clearance.

ITP Distance. The distance between Reference or Potentially Blocking Aircraft and the ITP Aircraft as defined by the difference in distance to a common point along each aircraft's track. For the special case of parallel tracks, an along-track distance measurement would be used to determine this value.

ITP Equipment. Equipment needed on the ITP Aircraft that provides ADS-B information on Potentially Blocking Aircraft with regard to ADS-B data qualification (i.e., information sufficient to determine if ADS-B data are, or are not, Qualified ADS-B Data), Same Direction, ITP Distance, Ground Speed Differential, flight level, and aircraft identification.

ITP Separation Minimum. The longitudinal separation minimum between the ITP Aircraft and Reference Aircraft. The ITP Separation Minimum is based on the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) Distance Measuring Equipment (DME) separation method and is 10 nautical miles (nmi).

ITP Speed/Distance Criteria. A specified set of maximum positive Ground Speed Differential and minimum ITP Distance values between a Same Direction Potentially Blocking Aircraft and the ITP Aircraft, required to be met prior to requesting or initiating an ITP with that aircraft as a Reference Aircraft.

Leading Climb or Descent. A Same Track climb or descent performed by an aircraft when ahead of a Reference Aircraft.

Positive Mach Difference. A difference in Mach between the ITP Aircraft and the Reference Aircraft that would result in a decrease in the ITP Distance between them.

Potentially Blocking Aircraft. Aircraft at an Intervening Flight Level whose ADS-B report data are available to the ITP Aircraft.

Qualified ADS-B Data. Received ADS-B data that meet the accuracy and integrity requirements determined to be required for the ITP.

Reference Aircraft. One or two Same Direction, Potentially Blocking Aircraft with Qualified ADS-B Data that meet the ITP Speed/Distance Criteria and that will be identified to Air Traffic Control (ATC) by the ITP Aircraft as part of the ITP clearance request.

Requested Flight Level. A flight level above (for a climb) or below (for a descent) all Intervening Flight Levels that is no more than 4,000 ft from the Initial Flight Level.

Same Direction. Same direction tracks are intersecting tracks or portions thereof, the angular difference of which is less than 45 degrees or more than 315 degrees.

Same Track. Same direction tracks and intersecting tracks or portions thereof, the angular difference of which is less than 45 degrees or more than 315 degrees, and whose protection areas overlap (i.e., without lateral separation).

Abstract

Automatic Dependant Surveillance-Broadcast (ADS-B) equipment can enable the use of new ground and airborne procedures, such as the NASA-developed In-Trail Procedure (ITP), the first of several new procedures to go through the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) approval process. This paper discuses a computerized batch processing experiment designed to examine the operational impacts of the introduction of ADS-B equipment and the ITP to the North Atlantic Organized Track System. The ITP will make use of improved surveillance in the local surrounding airspace of ADS-B-equipped aircraft to enable more efficient oceanic flight level changes. The experiment was conducted using the Traffic Manager (TMX), a desktop simulation capable of simulating airspace environments and aircraft The collected data were analyzed with respect to multiple, operations. operationally relevant parameters, including fuel burn, request approval rates, and the distribution of fuel savings across aircraft and the North Atlantic Organized Track System (NATOTS). The experiment showed that operational improvements and benefits could be achieved through the use of ADS-B or ADS-B and the ITP.

Introduction

The United States, Australia and Europe have established programs to develop and implement Automatic Dependant Surveillance-Broadcast (ADS-B) to improve Air Traffic Management (ATM). [1-3] Benefits of ADS-B include increased surveillance range and a more extensive message set compared to previous technology. The National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Langley Research Center (LaRC) is developing a new airborne procedure that leverages the benefits of ADS-B to provide a means for pilots to make more informed requests of Air Traffic Service Providers(ATSPs) and enables altitude changes that previously would not have been approvable. Intended for use in non-radar (radio detection and ranging) airspace that employs procedural separation, the In-Trail Procedure (ITP) uses airborne ADS-B data, onboard tools, and a new separation standard based on these data and tools. In order to support development of the ITP, NASA researchers conducted several experiments, including human-in-the-loop (HITL) studies evaluating both pilot and controller aspects of the new procedure, safety analyses, and computerized batch processing studies investigating the operational impacts of the use of the ITP.

The objective of this paper is to present the results of the computerized batch processing study and discuss some of the operational benefits that can be gained with the ITP. The paper is organized as follows: presentation of background on why there is a need for the ITP, a description of the ITP, description of the simulation program used in the batch processing experiment and the development of enhancements required to conduct the experiment, descriptions of the experiment, simulation validation and scenarios, assumptions and configurations, results and analysis. The paper closes with some concluding remarks summarizing the results of the experiment.

Background

The ITP is designed for use in non-radar procedural airspace. Accordingly, the North Atlantic Organized Track System (NATOTS) was selected for this experiment. On a typical day, approximately 800–1,000 aircraft cross the North Atlantic. Of these, about 400-600 aircraft fly on the NATOTS. Thus,

the NATOTS is one of the most heavily utilized oceanic regions in the world. Other flights operate on non-structured, uniquely designed "random" routes, which are created upon request. In addition to large numbers, the oceanic environment accommodates the majority of aircraft traveling across the ocean in a relatively small window of time. This is done for scheduling reasons by the airlines to accommodate curfew restrictions at destination airports and customer travel times that are most in demand. Most traffic is comprised of similar aircraft types. During peak crossing times, traffic produces local congestion at the most common crossing altitudes. This congestion generally requires some aircraft to fly at altitudes different from those requested. Unfortunately, the new altitudes may be less fuel efficient. The problem is exacerbated by the separation standards used. In the North Atlantic, the separation standard is a 10-minute Mach number technique. This separation standard compares the Mach number of two sequential aircraft in order to account for the closure during flight when a faster aircraft is following a slower aircraft. Based on the difference in Mach numbers and the distance to be traveled along the NATOTS track being flown in nautical miles (nmi), the separation time increases beyond the 10-minute standard. Table 1, from the Application of Separation Minima for the North Atlantic Region [4], shows the additional separation time values (in minutes) used for this technique.

Difference	Distance to Fly/Additional Separation required at common point to ensure at least									
in Mach		minimum separation at exit/divergence/limit point								
	001-600nmi	001-600nmi 601-1200nmi 1200-1800nmi 1801-2400nmi 2401-3000nmi								
0.01	01	02	03	04	05					
0.02	02	04	06	08	10					
0.03	03	06	09	12	15					
0.04	04	08	12	16	20					
0.05	05	10	15	20	25					
0.06	06	12	18	24	30					
0.07	07	14	21	28	35					
0.08	08	16	24	32	40					
0.09	09	18	27	36	45					
0.10	10	20	30	40	50					

Table 1: 10-minute Mach number technique used to separate aircraft in the North Atlantic

Although some aircraft climb and descend to more optimal altitudes during North Atlantic oceanic crossings, most aircraft do not make altitude change requests during the crossing, despite the fact that openings are often available at desirable altitudes. The reason is that pilots today have no way to determine where the openings are located and, thus, have no way to determine the best time to initiate a new request. One factor that contributes to this problem is the limited local surveillance available to pilots. As a result, only about 6% of aircraft perform an altitude change (although this number seems to be increasing. – B. McPike [NATS UK] personal communication, October 28, 2004.) In contrast, the increased range of ADS-B allows for improved surveillance of surrounding traffic and is greater than the current separation standards employed in the NATOTS. The ability to receive ADS-B transmissions (ADS-B IN) can provide pilots with a means of identifying potential climb or descent opportunities by increasing situation awareness (SA) of surrounding traffic. The increased SA can be achieved through the use of a graphical Cockpit Display of Traffic Information (CDTI). Although a CDTI is not required for the ITP, it can provide additional benefit to an ITP installation. An example of a possible ITP display is shown in Fig. 1. The display was used in one of the ITP HITL experiments [5].



Figure 1: Final ITP display as used in HITL experiment

While an increase in SA can provide benefits, the ITP goes further to establish new procedures and a proposed new separation standard that can enable altitude changes that are not possible under current operations. The ITP is designed to take advantage of ADS-B technology that can enable inter-aircraft transmission and reception of position and other relevant aircraft information [6], [7]. The details of the ITP are explained in the next section.

In-Trail Procedure

Development of the ITP is sponsored by the RTCA/EUROCAE (Radio Technical Commision for Aviation (formerly)/European Organization for Civil Aviation Equipment) Requirements Focus Group (RFG) and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) Separation and Airspace Safety Panel (SASP). A complete description of the procedure is available in the *Safety, Performance and Interoperability Requirements (SPR) Document for* the Airborne Traffic Situation Awareness ITP (ATSA-ITP) application [8].

The ITP is intended to enable altitude changes that are otherwise blocked when aircraft are spaced at less than current separation standards at altitudes between the current and desired altitudes of a requesting aircraft. This capability is enabled through the use of ADS-B, onboard tools, and the new ITP. While using the ITP, standard separation is required between all aircraft at the current and desired

altitudes. Prior to requesting an ITP, specific initiation criteria must be met with each Reference Aircraft. ITP initiation criteria include that each Reference Aircraft must meet one of two conditions:

- 1) If the ITP distance to a Reference Aircraft is greater than, or equal to, 15 nmi, then the groundspeed differential must be less than, or equal to, 20 knots (kts) between the two aircraft
- or
- 2) If the ITP distance to a Reference Aircraft is greater than, or equal to, 20 nmi, then the groundspeed differential must be less than, or equal to, 30 kts between the two aircraft.

ITP distance is defined as the distance between a Reference Aircraft and the ITP aircraft. It is calculated as the difference in distance to a common point along each aircraft's track. There is no requirement that the common point be co-located with any form of navigational waypoint. This is shown graphically in Fig. 2.



Figure 2: Calculation of ITP distance

Using on-board tools, the ITP aircraft makes use of ADS-B reports from nearby aircraft and determines which aircraft have qualified ADS-B data and meet the ITP initiation criteria. ADS-B reports must meet specific limits for the accuracy and integrity of the data in order to be used for the ITP. In order for the ITP to be requested, both the ITP aircraft and any Reference Aircraft must be Same Direction, and the initiation criteria must be met between the ITP aircraft and any Reference Aircraft. If these conditions are met, the flight crew may make an ITP request to Air Traffic Control (ATC). An air traffic controller must review the request using all available information to ensure that separation will exist with all aircraft not involved in the ITP and that ITP requirements are met. In order for a controller to approve an ITP, the following conditions must be met:

- 1. The ITP aircraft cannot be a Reference Aircraft for another ITP clearance.
- 2. The ITP aircraft and each Reference Aircraft must be classified as Same Track.
- 3. The Reference Aircraft cannot be in the process of maneuvering or be expected to maneuver.
- 4. The ITP and Reference Aircraft Mach numbers must be within 0.04 Mach of each other if one aircraft is closing on another.

Upon receiving an ITP clearance from ATC, the flight crew must confirm that the initiation criteria are still met with each Reference Aircraft identified in the clearance prior to accepting the clearance and initiating the altitude change. Once the altitude change is completed, the ITP aircraft must report level at the cleared altitude.

The ITP can be applied equally during climb or descent maneuvers. Provided that all ITP criteria are met, any of the following aircraft configurations can be used:

- 1. ITP aircraft following one or two Reference Aircraft
- 2. ITP aircraft leading one or two Reference Aircraft
- 3. ITP aircraft leading one Reference Aircraft and following one Reference Aircraft

For configurations 1 and 2 with two Reference Aircraft, aircraft must be located on separate intermediate altitudes. For configuration 3, the two Reference Aircraft may be located on the same or separate intermediate altitudes.

Experiment Tool

Traffic Manager (TMX) is a medium-fidelity, desktop simulation application designed for interaction studies of aircraft in present or future ATM environments. Originally developed by the National Aerospace Laboratory (NLR) in The Netherlands, TMX can serve as a stand-alone traffic simulator, scenario generator, scenario editor, experiment control station, data-recording tool, and rapid prototyping environment. Both the NLR and NASA LaRC have continued to enhance and improve TMX, making it a valuable asset to many ATM research projects [9]. TMX was used to simulate the environment for the experiment described in this paper. The simulation environment included the oceanic airspace, the NATOTS, multiple ATC centers, and the individual aircraft. The TMX user interface is shown in Fig. 3.



Figure 3: Screenshot of Traffic Manager user interface

TMX is capable of simulating up to 2,000 aircraft simultaneously. Each aircraft uses a sixdegrees-of-freedom dynamics model augmented with performance parameters from the EUROCONTROL Base of Aircraft Data (BADA) database [10]. Other features include:

- Gate-to-gate operations, including approach and taxi
- Auto Flight Model with basic altitude, heading, and speed modes, plus Flight Management System (FMS) modes with auto throttles and Required-Time-of -Arrival functionality
- ADS-B Model with range limits
- Airborne Separation Assistance System (ASAS) with conflict detection, resolution, and prevention modules that are selectable among multiple variants
- Airborne precision approach spacing for merging and spacing operations
- Pilot Model:, including parameters for reaction time and scheduling of tasks
- Wind Model with 3D "truth" and predicted wind fields
- Weather Model with moving weather cells
- Data logging that is both time- and event-based

TMX supports external connection interfaces that can connect to full motion simulators and integrate with the NASA LaRC Air Traffic Operations Laboratory (ATOL). Depending on the research need, TMX can operate in real-time or fast-time mode. TMX can be modified to accommodate new and changing research requirements or to introduce a new capability to the simulation.

Development

Several enhancements to TMX were required for this research effort. The first enhancement was to create the oceanic flight environment that exists in the North Atlantic. This environment included the addition of Oceanic Control Areas (OCAs), the ability to load National Oceanic and Atmospheric

Administration (NOAA) Global Forecast System (GFS) winds, and the conversion of the NATOTS Notice to Airmen (NOTAM) into TMX route files. Wind data were downloaded from the NOAA National Operational Model Archive and Distribution System. [11] The NATOTS NOTAM with the track definitions for the routes used in this experiment is in Appendix A.

External programs were developed to convert the NOAA GFS winds and NATOTS NOTAM data into the correct format to be read into TMX. It was also necessary to expand and improve the existing Controller Pilot Data Link Communication (CPDLC) functionality in TMX, including the addition of messages for position reports and ITP-required messages, since aircraft can use CPDLC in the North Atlantic.

The next enhancement involved the fuel model and the way in which the model performed fuel flow calculations. The underlying premise was that the core TMX fuel flow calculations (based on a partial implementation of the BADA database) did not align with calculations from tabular or recorded data obtained from actual flights under similar conditions. In order to achieve the desired level of accuracy in the fuel flow model, it was necessary to implement a new calculation method using a 4th order polynomial curve tailored to the data in the airplane performance manual cruise-Mach tables. The new model was applied only during the cruise portion of flight. Due to proprietary restrictions on obtaining appropriate fuel flow data required to implement the new fuel model, many aircraft types in TMX still used the BADA calculations. The improved fuel model was implemented for 10 aircraft types typically flown in the North Atlantic region. These were the only aircraft types used in the experiment.

The next major task was to redesign the pilot model in TMX because the existing model was not capable of performing all of the required tasks related to the ITP and oceanic airspace. For example, the model performed all actions in sequential order but did not perform any automated actions. In addition, the capability to make or react to CPDLC messages did not exist. Redesigning the entire model significantly improved the capability and realism of the pilot model. The new pilot model handled real-world tasks that were performed both manually (e.g., altitude requests) and automatically (e.g., position reports). In addition, automatic actions occurred in parallel with regular pilot actions. The enhanced model will be expanded to accommodate new tasks, as needed. Each aircraft could also create and send position reports automatically.

The last development effort was to create an ATC model in TMX. This development was required because the study needed 1) the ability to simulate aircraft operating in the oceanic environment, 2) the capability to look into the effects of differences in the surveillance information available to pilots and controllers, and 3) the ability to examine the communications involved with each altitude change-request. The ATC model used the same architectural layout as the pilot model and was expandable and multifunctional. The model was based on OCA, with an ATC center created for each sector loaded in the simulation. Aircraft flying in each OCA sent all communications to the appropriate ATC center.

TMX does not currently model inter-center communication. This communication occurs when a maneuver is requested near a boundary or when a boundary transition occurs. However, a limited form of coordination occurs when an aircraft nears the boundary of a sector—i.e., position reports are sent to the adjacent sector(s). The aircraft currently make the appropriate transitional changes and always send communications to the correct ATC center.

Experiment Design

The experiment considered four variables:

- 1. The ADS-B environment, expressed as (a) the percentage of aircraft in the scenario equipped with the ability to transmit ADS-B messages (ADS-B OUT) and (b) the percentage of aircraft in the scenario equipped with the ability to receive ADS-B transmissions (ADS-B IN)
- 2. The density of aircraft in the NATOTS airspace

- 3. The ITP capability, expressed as the percentage of ADS-B IN aircraft equipped with tools required to perform the ITP
- 4. The request method used for track entry

The levels of ADS-B OUT equipage used were 30%, 60%, and 90% and for ADS-B IN were 10%, 45%, and 80% of all aircraft in the scenario. The two variables together represented an equipage level that provided the surveillance environment for each experiment condition. The experiment assumed that any aircraft equipped with ADS-B IN was also equipped with ADS-B OUT. Therefore, the experiment did not consider cases that would have resulted in a higher ADS-B IN equipage rate than ADS-B OUT equipage rate. This combination of ADS-B OUT and ADS-B IN values yielded six equipage levels. A seventh level was used as the baseline condition in which none of the aircraft were equipped with ADS-B IN or ADS-B OUT.

Four traffic densities were used for the total number of aircraft in the system: 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, and 2.0 times current traffic levels. These traffic densities were referred to as low, medium, high and ultra, respectively, throughout the experiment and in this paper.

Table 2 shows a summary of recorded traffic data from NavCanada's Traffic Density Analyzer (TDA) for the period March 25, 2006–January 23, 2007. This data was used as the basis for the medium density (1.0X) traffic level.

Table 3 shows the average number of aircraft for each traffic density with an approximate ratio to the average number of aircraft from the recorded traffic data (Table 2). Due to the complexities of generating traffic flows with realistic characteristics, the traffic levels generated for the experiment resulted in values that were slightly different from the planned densities. Table 3 shows the generated densities and are used in the remainder of this paper.

Table 2: Real day traffic density level

Minimum #	Maximum #	Average #	Standard
of Aircraft	of Aircraft	of Aircraft	Deviation
61	301	232.15	30.59

Table 3: Experiment traffic density levels

	Low	Medium	High	Ultra
Ratio to				
Real traffic	0.5	1.1	1.4	1.9
Number of				
aircraft	125	261	318	456

The third variable of ITP capability was 0% (SA) or 100% (SA+ITP) of the ADS-B IN-equipped aircraft. This variable corresponded to aircraft equipped with an ADS-B receiver and CDTI (SA) or that equipment plus onboard tools required for the ITP (SA+ITP). The SA-capable aircraft only used the surveillance aspects of an ADS-B/ITP display, while the SA+ITP capable aircraft combined that information with the increased flexibility of the ITP when making altitude change requests. The use of ADS-B information for situation awareness allowed the pilot model to make more informed altitude change requests, even when not equipped with the tools for ITP. Table 4 shows the relationship of these three variables and the values used.

Table 4: Experiment design matrix

			% ADS-B OUT _ % ADS-B IN											
		0_0	30	_10	60	_10	90	_10	60	_45	90	_45	90	_80
	Low	SA	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I
শ্	(0.5X)			TP		TP		TP		TP		TP		TP
nsi	Medium	SA	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I
۵ ۵	(1.1X)			TP		TP		TP		TP		TP		TP
lic	High	SA	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I
rafi	(1.4X)			TP		TP		TP		TP		TP		TP
- F	Ultra	SA	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I	SA	SA+I
	(1.9X)			ТР		TP								

Table 4 represents half of the experiment design matrix, which was repeated across the remaining experimental variable of the request method used for track entry. The variable of request method determined what altitude an aircraft would request when approaching the entrance of the NATOTS. All aircraft looked at the optimum fuel-flow altitude at a specified look-ahead time (10 minutes) past the entrance of the track. The request method used the optimum fuel-flow altitude (RM0) or added 1,000 feet to it (RM1). The two request methods were based on request methods used by airlines for today's operations—i.e., some airlines conduct flight planning with the expectation of making a climb during the flight, and, therefore, request entry into the track system at the current optimum altitude (RM0). Other airlines do not expect to climb at all, and, therefore, determine a compromise altitude (between optimum at entry and optimum at exit), which usually occurs about 1,000 feet above the optimum altitude at entry (RM1).

The portion of the experiment design matrix shown in Table 4 contains 52 cells. When duplicated, the result is 104 cells for the entire experiment matrix. A statistical power analysis determined 18 replicates as the minimum number needed across all variables of interest. To provide a statistically significant number of samples throughout the experiment, researchers ran 18 replicates in each of the 104 cells. Each replicate represented an independent traffic flow into the NATOTS. Each traffic flow represented a single day, at a specific traffic density, and was randomly generated from a distribution function, such that the desired NATOTS characteristics were simulated (e.g., traffic distribution across the tracks of the NATOTS, distribution of aircraft arrivals into the NATOTS, and total number of aircraft). When accounting for the 18 replicates per experiment cell, a total of 1,872 individual scenarios were run through TMX for data collection.

Simulation Validation and Scenario Creation

The ability to accurately simulate current day operations in TMX was of critical importance in the experiment described in this paper. A significant portion of the development effort focused on modeling current day operations and validating the simulation against data collected during March 7–15, 2005 and March 25, 2006–January 23, 2007. The primary comparisons focused on the distribution of aircraft between the active tracks, the distribution of aircraft in time for the whole NATOTS, and the total number of aircraft that passed through the NATOTS. Data collected from NavCanada's TDA between March 25, 2006–January 23, 2007 were used to determine the average distribution of aircraft between active tracks of the NATOTS, an important aspect of the NATOTS operation since not all tracks are loaded equally— i.e., the NATOTS is designed every 12 hours to make use of the jet stream during eastbound operations or to avoid the jet stream during westbound operations. The result is that most aircraft request entry to the central tracks, which leaves the outer tracks less populated for eastbound flights. Fig. 4 illustrates this distribution for the traffic load on March 7, 2005.



Figure 4: NATOTS loading comparison for Eastbound tracks

Fig. 4 also illustrates how traffic distribution per track averaged across all 18 medium density traffic flows in the experiment. March 7, 2005 is the date used for the NATOTS and the wind field throughout the experiment. Track Zulu (Z) was excluded from the study because the southern-most track experienced a significantly lower aircraft count and occasionally had aircraft join or leave the NATOTS.

Recorded data from Shanwick Oceanic Control for the period March 7–15, 2005 was used to compare the traffic distribution in time. The aircraft in the NATOTS were counted at 60-second intervals. This count showed how the density of aircraft in the system changed with time. The distribution was not uniform between NATOTS active tracks. In order to create scenarios that contained a distribution similar to real-world NATOTS traffic loads, it was necessary to create a distribution function in TMX that could be adjusted using input parameters to achieve the desired traffic density and distribution. This distribution function was based on the generation of an exponentially distributed random number and a nominal creation interval between aircraft, which was performed on a per-track basis. The input parameters were calibrated to create traffic flows with a distribution similar to that of the March 2005 data. The calibration was performed independently for each track used in the experiment. Since the generation process included randomization, it was not assured that every traffic flow generated would have a distribution that matched what was desired. It was necessary to compare the traffic distribution of each flow to data from March 2005 to identify those flows that most closely aligned with the recorded data. The targeted traffic densities based on the data from the TDA were used to ensure that the traffic flows had similar levels of traffic to what was desired. The comparison of both the distribution and the traffic

density in the NATOTS was used as the basis for selecting the flows in the experiment. As a result of the selection process, the required 18 traffic flows for each of the four traffic densities of the experiment were identified.

Fig. 5 illustrates how the average distribution of the final experiment traffic flows compared to the average distribution of the March 2005 data. The graph covers the period when the eastbound tracks are active (~12 hours). Each curve includes the count of all active tracks combined. The actual data shown is the average of the nine days worth of data that was collected, and each experiment density is the average of the 18 flows that were simulated. The low-density distribution compared favorably to the actual traffic distribution. The low-density input parameters that defined the scenario-generation function were multiplied by a scalar for the higher traffic density flows. This resulted in an estimate of how the distribution curve scales with increased traffic densities.



Figure 5: Traffic distribution in Time of aircraft within the NATOTS

Following the selection of the 72 experiment traffic flows (18 flows * 4 densities), each aircraft was loaded onto a track at specific altitudes, such that the required separation was maintained throughout the duration of each flight. This track loading process made use of the ATC model to assign each aircraft a crossing altitude. The assigned altitude was based on the entry-altitude request that each aircraft made to ATC prior to entering the NATOTS. The specific altitude requested by each aircraft was based on the request method (RM0 or RM1) being used. Each of the 72 traffic flows were loaded using both request methods. The ATC model attempted to load each aircraft at its requested altitude. If it was not possible, the ATC model checked for an altitude that could provide required separation in an expanding altitude

envelope from the requested altitude. Table 5 shows the altitude assignment sequence that ATC used for loading. The sequence was developed with support from team member observations of track loading operations made during tours of NATOTS control centers for Gander and Shanwick OCAs.

	Delta from
	Requested Altitude
Attempt	(ft)
1	0
2	+ 1000
3	+ 2000
4	- 1000
5	- 2000
6	- 3000
7	+ 3000
8	- 4000
9	+ 4000
10	+ 5000

Table 5:	ATC	altitude	assignment	sequence
----------	-----	----------	------------	----------

When it was not possible to load an aircraft at an altitude in the sequence while maintaining the required separation, it was removed from the simulation, although this was a rare occurrence and did not significantly impact the average densities of the resulting experiment scenarios. Aircraft could not be assigned an altitude outside the defined NATOTS or flight envelope of the aircraft. The remaining aircraft were recorded into a new scenario. This loading process of the aircraft to a specific altitude created the baseline scenarios for the experiment, which totaled 144 scenarios (72 traffic flows * 2 request methods). These baseline scenarios were then modified to create the remaining experiment scenarios.

Fig. 6 and Fig. 7 illustrate how the density of each traffic flow compared to the recorded TDA data for eastbound tracks (March 2006–January 2007). The number of flights that occurred on the westbound tracks was usually comparable to the number of flights on the eastbound tracks, which together comprised 400–600 NATOTS flights daily. Westbound tracks were excluded from the simulation due to previous unpublished results indicating no significant difference between eastbound and westbound operations. The figures illustrate the 18 traffic flows, per traffic density, when run with the RM0 request method and the RM1 request method, respectively. The figures demonstrate that very few differences occurred when aircraft were loaded into the system using the two request methods.



Figure 6: Density comparison for requested entry at optimum altitude (RM0)



Figure 7: Density comparison for requested entry at compromise altitude (RM1)

The actual data represented in Fig. 6 and Fig. 7 aligns closely with the medium traffic density, while the actual data represented in Fig. 5 align best with the low traffic density. The primary reason for the difference is the dates for which the data were collected. In March 2005, traffic levels in the North Atlantic were lower than in the March 2006–January 2007 time period. Table 6 shows the average number of flights across the two actual data sets and the four experiment densities. The March 2005 data consistently align with the low density for both distribution (Fig. 5) and total number of flights (Table 6).

	Actual	Data Sets	Experiment Data Sets			
	March 2005	March 2006-	Low	Medium	High	Ultra
		January 2007				
Average	128.6	232.2	125.2	260.9	317.2	451.9

Table 6: Average number of flights in the NATOTS

The process of a pilot requesting an entry altitude and ATC assigning a crossing altitude was limited to the creation of the baseline scenarios. Baseline scenarios were then used to create the remaining experiment scenarios by adjusting the equipage with which each aircraft was created. The process did not involve the use of TMX, but instead used a stand-alone application with a baseline scenario and a series of random number sequences. For each baseline scenario, there were six groups containing two sequences of random numbers. Each group corresponded to an equipage level in the experiment matrix (30_10, 60_10, 60_45, 90_10, 90_45, or 90_80). One sequence per group contained the numbers for the aircraft that were equipped with only ADS-B OUT, and the other contained the numbers for the aircraft that were equipped with both ADS-B OUT and ADS-B IN. These numbers reference the sequence in which the aircraft were created in the scenario. The random number sequences remained consistent across equipage levels. For example, when an aircraft was equipped with ADS-B OUT (e.g., at the 30% level), it was, at minimum, equipped with ADS-B OUT in any higher equipage environments (i.e., 60% or 90% levels). The same rule held true for the creation of the ADS-B IN equipage sequences. This process only changed the level of ADS-B equipment on each aircraft; it did not affect the creation time, position, or flight plan of the aircraft.

Each ADS-B equipage environment (6 levels) and procedural capability (SA or SA+ITP) generated a new experiment scenario. This resulted in a total of 12 experiment scenarios plus the original baseline scenario. This was repeated for each of the 144 baseline scenarios, yielding all 1,872 scenarios used in the experiment [144 baseline + (12*144) experiment scenarios]. These scenarios were then run through TMX for data collection.

Assumptions and Configurations

In addition to creating scenarios, it was necessary to define certain key assumptions and configuration settings in order to make the simulation operate as a realistic oceanic environment. One assumption concerned the frequency and time when aircraft could make altitude change requests—i.e., no aircraft could make altitude change requests for the first 10 minutes in the track system. This ensured that an aircraft would not be approved for a maneuver that would place it into conflict with another aircraft that had yet to be created in the scenario. This practice was based on current operations, because if an aircraft could change altitude in the first 10 minutes (current required separation), ATC would allow the aircraft to load at that altitude at the beginning of the track. Another assumption restricted aircraft from making requests for the last 100 nmi of the track system. This assumption was made for two reasons. The first reason is that the the required separation is reduced to 5 nmi instead of 10 minutes once an aircraft and a trailing aircraft enter radar coverage near the exit of the track system. In addition, Very High Frequency (VHF) radio coverage is available at that point, making altitude change requests much easier and faster to communicate, as opposed to the High Frequency (HF) coverage available through most of

the NATOTS. The second reason to restrict requests near the exit was to avoid conflicts during data analysis. Since aircraft were excluded from the simulation at the track exit, the trailing aircraft could (without this restriction) be cleared for a maneuver that would not be approved if the first aircraft were still in the simulation. The net effect of these assumptions was that aircraft could only make altitude change requests during a period that began 10 minutes after entry and ended 100 nmi before exit.

The frequency with which aircraft could make requests was based on ADS-B IN equipage. Unequipped aircraft (comparable to the vast majority of today's aircraft) could make a single altitude change request when approaching the sector transition between the Gander and Shanwick OCA if the aircraft wanted to move closer to the optimum fuel burn altitude. This transition occurred close to halfway through the NATOTS crossing. This approach to making altitude requests was similar to the way that operations are currently conducted in the NATOTS. Altitude change requests are often made at the same time as the communication checks required at the sector transition. In order to maintain a realistic number of aircraft unequipped with ADS-B IN capability that are performing altitude changes under current operations, a certain number of valid requests were denied. This restriction on valid requests made by unequipped aircraft was intended to result in about 6% of the aircraft being able to maneuver. Requests were approved on a random basis. When a request was determined to be valid, a random number was generated and compared against the target value (used to reach the 6% maneuver rate). If the random number was less than the target value, the request was approved. Otherwise, the request was denied. The actual number of requests approved for aircraft unequipped with ADS-B IN capability was 2%-8%, depending on the particular scenario. This restriction did not apply to aircraft equipped with ADS-B IN capability, where all valid requests were approved. ADS-B IN-equipped aircraft could make altitude change requests at any point during the crossing, provided they had not done so in the prior 10 minutes. Aircraft made follow-up requests when one or more previous requests had been denied, a process that enabled aircraft to get closer to the originally-desired altitude and could be repeated for each altitude available from the cockpit (using the ADS-B IN display). The process ended when available altitudes between present and near-optimum altitudes were depleted or when a request was approved.

Another key assumption concerned the method used in the pilot model to determine the appropriate type of altitude change based on available traffic information. The traffic information was equivalent to the pilot model having a display similar to Fig. 1. There were three possible outcomes that could have resulted from consideration of an altitude change request: 1) no altitude change request, 2) a standard (non-ITP) altitude change request, or 3) an ITP altitude change request. The type of request and amount of available information depended on aircraft equipage. The first step of the process was to determine if an aircraft wanted to make a flight level change in order to fly closer to the optimum fuelflow altitude was higher than the current altitude. The model also assumed that an aircraft only descended toward the optimum fuel altitude if the difference was greater than 1,000 feet. Since the optimum fuel-flow altitude was always increasing during a flight, making a decent that was too large to catch the optimum would have been inefficient; in some cases, it was better to allow the optimum altitude to come up to the aircraft. Thus, aircraft were not permitted to request an altitude below the requested entry/crossing altitude. An aircraft assigned an altitude at entry that was higher than the altitude requested by the pilot model was permitted to descend, at most, to the original requested entry/crossing altitude.

There were certain conditions in which an aircraft would not request an altitude change. The first condition was when the aircraft was already flying at its fuel-optimum altitude or was not far enough off its current optimum to make a climb or descent maneuver more efficient. The second condition was when conflicting traffic was visible to the aircraft. Both conditions occurred in all scenarios and contributed to a decrease in the percentage of aircraft that made requests.

After determining that an aircraft wanted to change altitude, but prior to making a request, the TMX pilot model checked traffic information from two primary sources: Traffic Alert and Collision Avoidance System (TCAS) and ADS-B. All aircraft in the experiment were equipped with TCAS. Since the effective range of TCAS is approximately 30–40 nmi [12], surveillance of surrounding traffic on the

TCAS display was limited. To simulate this in the experiment, the pilot model of any aircraft could not see TCAS-only equipped aircraft farther away than 40 nmi. In addition, surrounding traffic equipped with only TCAS were not considered "visible" to the pilot model when the aircraft were farther away than 40 nmi. While the use of TCAS was not required and did not enable standard or ITP maneuvers, the use of TCAS information could indicate to the pilot model that a request should not be made. The second means of surveilling surrounding traffic that was available to some aircraft derived from ADS-B information. Surrounding aircraft equipped with ADS-B OUT capability were visible to the pilot model of ADS-B IN aircraft out to 200 nmi.

After determining traffic visibility, the TMX pilot model applied the criteria in Table 7 to control requests.

Traffic Aircraft Range	Traffic at Desired Altitude	Traffic at Intermediate Altitude
< 15 nmi	None	None
>=15 nmi & < 60 nmi	None	ITP
>= 60 nmi & < 160 nmi	Standard	ITP
>= 160 nmi	Standard	Standard

Table 7: TMX pilot model request availability

The criteria in Table 7 were used to evaluate a request based on each visible aircraft; after all visible aircraft were evaluated, the most restrictive request was made. The most restrictive condition was when no requests were possible, followed by an ITP request, and a standard (non-ITP) request. The range differentiation points are as follows:

- 15 nmi was the minimum initiation distance for an ITP request. If there was a "visible" aircraft within 15 nmi, no valid requests were possible.
- 60 nmi was slightly less than the typical separation being used. This was chosen to increase the likelihood of valid requests being made in cases when an aircraft was near the allowable separation limits.
- 160 nmi derived from separation standards used in the North Atlantic and was a practical limit on what could be considered a maximum range required for current separation standards.

In real-world operations, ATC can always approve a less restrictive procedure than the one that is requested. For example, ATC can approve a standard climb if required separation exists, even if an aircraft requests an ITP. ATC cannot approve an ITP if a standard request is made. The reason for this is that even in real-world operations, pilots do not always know the exact separation standard being applied to their aircraft. These limits on requests derive from the idea that if an altitude change is possible, pilots should make the request and try to take advantage of the opportunity.

Results and Discussion

The experiment described in this paper is designed to evaluate the operational impact of introducing the ITP into the NATOTS. Experimental data are evaluated using criteria in three categories:

- 1. Altitude requests and approval rates
- 2. Fuel savings
- 3. Track efficiency

Criteria in each category are compared across four experiment variables:

1. ADS-B equipage level

- 2. Traffic density
- 3. Procedural capability
- 4. Track entry request method

Final Traffic Densities

Before presenting the results of the experiment, it is important to understand that, while both track entry request methods (RM0 and RM1) use the same initial traffic setup, the two methods do not always result in the same number of aircraft being loaded on the track system. Differences between the two request methods result in slightly different traffic densities for some of the traffic flows. Table 8 shows the number of aircraft loaded onto the tracks for each traffic flow and request method, along with the average for each density and how the average compares to the current traffic density. All calculations are based on the value of the average number of aircraft for the appropriate request method and traffic density combination(s).

RM1 Request Method							RM0	Request Me	thod	
Traffic						Traffic				
flow	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	ULTRA		flow	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	ULTRA
1	127	257	319	444		1	127	256	317	436
2	119	268	320	460		2	119	267	319	453
3	120	252	323	460		3	120	252	322	453
4	124	265	318	440		4	124	264	315	434
5	129	270	308	457		5	129	270	307	454
6	123	269	315	448		6	123	268	313	437
7	124	262	309	468		7	124	262	303	461
8	119	261	324	447		8	119	258	322	440
9	125	269	322	445		9	125	269	319	440
10	130	261	310	464		10	130	260	310	455
11	132	256	321	459		11	132	256	321	451
12	133	256	320	452		12	133	255	319	449
13	130	262	314	462		13	130	260	312	455
14	121	257	322	462		14	121	257	322	455
15	126	262	314	454		15	126	262	314	449
16	128	260	313	460		16	128	260	312	456
17	124	255	325	451		17	124	255	324	450
18	120	260	325	456		18	120	260	325	451
Average						Average				
# of						# of				
aircraft	125	261	318	455		aircraft	125	261	316	449
X current						X current				
density	0.54	1.12	1.37	1.96		density	0.54	1.12	1.36	1.93

Table 8: Traffic densities by traffic flow and request method

Altitude Requests and Approval Rates

The first aspect of evaluating the operational benefits of introducing the ITP into the NATOTS involves the number of aircraft able to make altitude change requests, and, of those requests, how many

are approved for climb or descent. Fig. 8 shows the average percentage of aircraft that make altitude change requests in the RM1 request method. As would be expected, a higher percentage of aircraft are able to make altitude change requests at lower traffic densities. The data also show that by including the ITP, a higher percentage of aircraft make altitude change requests than do aircraft with the situation awareness aspects of an ADS-B/ITP display alone. The difference between aircraft equipped with SA versus SA+ITP increases directly with the equipage level.

Use of the RM1 request method and the request constraints account for a decrease in requests at the higher traffic densities under the SA condition. By requesting to start 1,000 feet above the optimum, the effect of doubling the traffic density is that more aircraft are loaded off their requested altitude. At higher traffic densities, there are no longer as many opportunities to change altitudes to correct the poor initial loading.

Fig. 9 illustrates the percentage of approved altitude change requests. As more aircraft are equipped with ADS-B IN, the percentage of approved requests at all densities increases. The increase is significantly influenced by the fact that there are fewer requests that cannot be approved as more aircraft are equipped with ADS-B IN. The effect of enabling the ITP does not strongly influence the percentage of requests that are approved, primarily because the number of altitude change requests that use the ITP is small for most conditions, as shown in Fig. 10. The percentage of ITP requests reaches a maximum value of 21% of all requests.



Figure 8: Percentage of aircraft that made altitude change requests (RM1)







Figure 10: Percentage of altitude change requests that used ITP (RM1)

Data for the RM0 request method are shown in Fig. 11, Fig. 12, and Fig. 13 and indicates an increase in each of the values examined when compared to the RM1 request method. In fact, in nine of

the experimental conditions, the average number of requests is greater than the number of aircraft. This means that many aircraft make multiple altitude change requests during the flight across the Atlantic. If a typical flight enters the NATOTS at the optimum altitude and is able to climb 1,000 feet every time it is appropriate, there will ideally be 2-3 step climbs during the crossing.

Under both RM0 and RM1 request methods, the introduction of ADS-B generally improves operations to varying degrees. Under both methods, the introduction of additional ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft generally increases the number of altitude change requests, as seen by comparing the 90_10, 90 45, and 90 80 equipage levels.

The introduction of additional ADS-B-OUT-equipped aircraft actually decreases the number of altitude change requests. This decrease can be seen by comparing the 30_10, 60_10 and 90_10 equipage levels, or alternatively, by comparing the 60_45 and 90_45 levels. This effect is because, with an increased number of ADS-B-OUT-equipped aircraft, the ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft observe more aircraft that prevent the completion of a maneuver, and, therefore, do not make requests. This is also why the approval rate of requests does not show the same decline as the percentage of aircraft that make requests.

The effect of ADS-B IN equipage is stronger in the RM0 request method scenarios because of track loading. The aircraft are, on average, loaded several hundred feet lower in the RM0 request method than in the RM1 request method, the number of aircraft that need to climb during the crossing to follow their optimum fuel burn profile increases.



Figure 11: Average percentage of aircraft that made altitude change requests (RM0). Please note that the scale in this figure is not the same as the scale in Fig. 8.



Figure 12: Percentage of altitude change requests approved (RM0)

As shown in Fig. 13, the percentage of the total requests that use the ITP is similar under the RM0 method to that under the RM1 method. The use of the ITP accounts for a higher percentage of requests as the traffic density increases. In most cases, the ITP is used more often under the RM0 scenarios than under the RM1 scenarios. The increased use of the ITP under the higher traffic densities is due to the presence of more aircraft in the NATOTS and the subsequent need to maneuver around them. The ITP allows aircraft to make maneuvers that cannot be performed under current operations, an increase in flexibility that becomes more useful as the density of air traffic increases. The ITP accounts for more than 25% of all requests in the highest equipage case for the RM0 ultra density scenarios.



Figure 13: Percentage of altitude change requests that used ITP (RM0)

It should be emphasized that while the data show an increase in request approvals when using ADS-B and the ITP, not all opportunities to climb or descend derive from the increase in aircraft equipage. Under the proper conditions, the use of the ITP can enable more opportunities if there is an available altitude into which an aircraft can climb/descend. **Fig. 14** shows the percentage of requests in the baseline scenarios that can be approved. Fig. 14 includes the requests that are approved and denied *only* to maintain the desired level of approvals for non-ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft. As previously noted, all aircraft in the baseline are classified as non-ADS-B-IN equipped aircraft. There are more flight level change opportunities under the RM0 request method, and the opportunities vary inversely with traffic density. The reason is that aircraft in the RM1 request method are nominally starting 1,000 feet above their optimum, resulting in a longer period of time before any change will be efficient (from a fuel burn perspective). The decreasing opportunities with increasing traffic density occur because the "openings" on the track into which an aircraft can climb or descend are now being filled from the start of

the track with additional aircraft. While similar opportunities exist in today's system, the ATSP would become overwhelmed if every aircraft requests an altitude change every time an altitude change is desired. One conclusion is that in order to take advantage of the opportunities that currently exist, a means by which the pilot can make more informed requests is needed. Introduction of ADS-B technology and the ITP can provide information to assist pilots when making requests and give them increased flexibility when trying to change altitudes.



Figure 14: Aircraft capable of maneuvering in the baseline scenarios

Fuel Analysis

The primary variable used for fuel comparisons in the analysis of the data from this experiment is the total fuel burn for a given flight that is normalized by the flight time for that particular flight. The fuel savings for a given flight is then calculated as the difference between the normalized fuel burn for the same flight flown in the baseline (no ADS-B equipage) and the fuel burn for the ADS-B equipage level for each aircraft being investigated. Positive values of fuel savings indicate a reduction in fuel flow compared to the baseline, with negative values indicating an increase or penalty in fuel flow. The normalized fuel burn variable can be compared across equipage levels for each aircraft (to create distributions of how many aircraft experienced a benefit) or averaged together (for a system wide comparison).

Fig. 15 and Fig. 16 show the system-wide averages of fuel savings for all ADS-B IN equipped aircraft for the RM1 and RM0 entry request methods, respectively. Both cases indicate a general trend that aircraft save less fuel when aircraft density increases. The reason is primarily because there are fewer opportunities to make altitude changes as the density of aircraft increases (as shown in the previous section "Altitude Requests ands Approval Rates"). With each increase in traffic density (from low to

ultra), a decrease in the average fuel savings occurs when comparing the same experimental conditions. The combination of SA+ITP under the same experimental conditions also proves more efficient than the use of SA alone. In some cases, the use of SA+ITP can allow for increased fuel savings for aircraft at one traffic density higher than for aircraft with SA alone. It can be seen, for example, under the RM0 request method, where high density equipage levels 90-10, 90-45 and 90-80 SA+ITP increased fuel savings compared to medium density SA for the same equipage levels. The contribution in fuel savings attributed to SA is greater than, or equal to, the contribution provided by the ITP; this difference is greater with lower traffic densities. It should be noted that the savings in the RM0 request method are, again, higher than in the RM1 request method.



Figure 15: Average fuel flow savings for ADS-B IN equipped aircraft (RM1)



Figure 16: Average fuel flow savings for ADS-B IN equipped aircraft (RM0)

Fig. 15 and Fig. 16 show system-wide averages based on all aircraft equipped with ADS-B IN. The data is analyzed in two ways. The first analysis uses all ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft. The second analysis uses the ADS-B IN equipped aircraft that has a fuel burn rate that is different from the baseline (i.e., a savings or penalty). Fig. 17 and Fig. 18 show the data for this method. As might be expected, the average fuel savings increases when the data is based only on the number of ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft that experience a savings or penalty over the baseline flight.



Figure 17: Average fuel flow savings for ADS-B IN equipped aircraft that experienced a difference from the baseline (RM1)



Figure 18: Average fuel flow savings for ADS-B IN equipped aircraft that experienced a difference from the baseline (RM0)

Tables 9 and 10 show the number of flights that experience a fuel savings or a penalty in the RM1 and RM0 request methods, respectively. For reference, Table 8 shows the total number of aircraft in each scenario. A comparison of the data in the two tables reveals a turning point in the number of aircraft that experience a fuel savings or penalty. In most cases, the maximum occurs at the high traffic density. This indicates that there is a maximum where ADS-B and ITP equipage continues to provide an increased benefit with increased traffic density, after which the benefits start to decrease with additional traffic.

Appendix B contains the specific count of aircraft for all conditions. Due to the high volume, the data are not shown here. However, an example is provided below.

An example (medium density, SA+ITP, 60_45, RM0) of a typical distribution of aircraft across savings and penalties is as follows: 117 non-ADS-B IN equipped aircraft and 144 ADS-B IN equipped aircraft, 5.4 non-ADS-B IN equipped aircraft with a fuel savings and 4.7 with a penalty, and 61.9 ADS-B IN equipped aircraft with a savings and 1.0 with a penalty for a total of 73.0. While the specific values change (depending on the experiment conditions), the general trends remain the same. A small number of non-ADS-B IN equipped aircraft experiences a savings or penalty. The savings or penalty is usually about the same number of aircraft. The number of ADS-B IN aircraft that experience a savings is usually significant and the number of ADS-B IN equipped aircraft that experience a penalty is very small.

SA scenarios						SA+ITP scenarios					
Equipage	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	ULTRA		Equipage	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	ULTRA	
level						level					
30_10	17.0	20.8	20.9	18.3		30_10	16.8	22.0	20.6	17.5	
60_10	16.9	21.1	21.5	18.9		60_10	17.3	20.4	20.4	18.3	
90_10	15.7	20.1	19.5	19.4		90_10	17.0	22.0	22.3	19.5	
60_45	35.3	45.9	46.4	41.9		60_45	36.4	46.9	49.8	47.3	
90_45	35.2	45.9	47.2	43.0		90_45	37.4	51.0	50.8	49.1	
90_80	59.5	79.3	80.0	71.7		90_80	62.3	86.4	87.1	84.6	

Table 9: Average number of aircraft with a fuel savings/penalty (RM1)

 Table 10: Average number of aircraft with a fuel savings/penalty (RM0)

SA scenarios					SA+ITP scenarios					
Equipage	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	ULTRA	Equipage	LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	ULTRA	
level					level					
30_10	23.1	26.0	27.8	25.0	30_10	22.5	25.7	29.4	25.5	
60_10	21.7	26.4	29.8	24.4	60_10	23.0	27.7	31.2	27.1	
90_10	22.6	25.7	29.8	24.9	90_10	22.3	28.8	33.5	28.4	
60_45	49.5	67.7	72.0	65.5	60_45	50.9	73.0	77.9	75.2	
90_45	50.7	67.1	73.3	65.4	90_45	54.5	80.6	86.9	87.8	
90_80	85.3	125.6	134.9	127.3	90_80	87.7	134.9	148.8	156.4	

While the system-wide average is useful for investigating large-scale trends and effects, individual aircraft-level analysis is also useful. By considering the effects on the distribution of savings per aircraft, a more detailed view of the effects can be seen.

The first series in the next sequence of plots represents the savings or penalty (negative values of savings) that aircraft unequipped with ADS-B IN experience. The second series represents the fuel savings that aircraft equipped with ADS-B IN experience. The percentage of each series is calculated independently of the other, so that each series has a total of 100%. Due to the accuracy of the fuel model used for the experiment, fuel savings of less than ± 10 pounds per hour (lbs/hr) are not considered when evaluating trends or comparing the results. Fig. 19 (RM1) and Fig. 20 (RM0) show the distribution of the normalized fuel savings, relative to the baseline, for all aircraft in medium density, 60-10 ADS-B equipage level scenarios equipped with SA capability only. Under both RM0 and RM1 request methods, less than 10% of non-ADS-B IN equipped aircraft experience a normalized fuel savings of more than ± 10 lbs/hr. These aircraft are spread across both positive and negative values.

By comparison, ADS-B IN equipped aircraft in the RM1 and RM0 request methods experience fuel savings greater than ±10 lbs/hr approximately 20% and 35% of the time, respectively. The majority of ADS-B IN equipped aircraft are distributed with positive fuel savings (two aircraft under RM1 experienced a loss). With the use of ADS-B IN, the probability of an aircraft saving fuel on a flight increases in comparison to the same aircraft without ADS-B IN equipment. An important point is that non-ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft are still evenly distributed around a savings of 0 lbs/hr—i.e., the increased maneuvering of ADS-B IN equipped aircraft does not cost non-ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft additional fuel. The distribution is more favorable for ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft with the RM0 entry request method than with the RM1 entry-request method.



Figure 19: Distribution of normalized fuel savings (RM1, 60_10 SA)



Figure 20: Distribution of normalized fuel savings (RM0, 60_10 SA)

The effect of introducing the ITP into the NATOTS had a larger effect on the fuel savings distribution under the RM0 request method than with the RM1 request method, as shown in Fig. 21. Fig. 21 shows the distribution of fuel savings under the same conditions as those illustrated in Fig. 20, with the addition of the ITP capability. As would be expected, the addition of the ITP to the ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft has no significant effect on the non-ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft. The ITP has a small effect on the distribution of ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft. By allowing aircraft to make use of the ITP, the percentage of the ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft experiencing fuel savings greater than 10 lbs/hr increases from around 35% to 42%. A similar trend occurs under the RM1 request method but is not as large. Just as a direct relationship between the ADS-B equipage level and average fuel savings occurs (as shown in Fig. 15 and Fig. 16), the percentage of aircraft experiencing fuel savings increases when ADS-B IN equipage increases. Fig. 22 illustrates the SA+ITP 90-80 equipage level under the RM0 request method. Under these conditions, the percentage of the ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft experiencing fuel savings increases method. Under these conditions, the percentage of the ADS-B-IN-equipped aircraft experiencing fuel savings increases when ADS-B IN equipage increases. Fig. 22 illustrates the SA+ITP 90-80 equipage level under the RM0 request method.



Figure 21: Distribution of normalized fuel savings (RM0, 60_10 SA+ITP)



Figure 22: Distribution of normalized fuel savings (RM0, 90_80 SA+ITP)

Track Efficiency

Results discussed in previous sections ("Altitude Requests and Approval Rates" and "Fuel Savings") indicate consistently higher fuel savings and request approval rates with the RM0 entry request method than the RM1 entry request method. There are two main factors: the efficiency of the requested altitude, and the efficiency of the track loading. For each aircraft in a traffic flow, one request method is more efficient than the other and is based on the type of aircraft and the gross weight of the aircraft at the time of the track entry request. The efficiency of the track loading varies slightly with the request method, but both methods use the same process to assign an altitude. The reason for the difference is due primarily to the limitation on the performance data sets available. When an aircraft requests a track entry that is 1,000 feet above its optimum, there are fewer altitudes available above the requested altitude at which it can fly. This often requires the aircraft to load below the requested altitude. Table 11 shows the magnitude of the average altitude (in thousands of feet) that aircraft are loaded from the altitude that is requested. All traffic densities experience more efficient loading under the RM0 entry method than with the RM1 entry method. Under both request methods, the efficiency of the track loading decreases when traffic density increases, as expected, since the simulated ATC needs to fit more aircraft into the same number of available altitudes on the tracks. The magnitude of the decrease with each traffic density increase is very similar for both request methods.

Table 11 also shows the results of the track loading with regard to the magnitude and does not take into account the direction of the offset from the requested altitude. Table 12 shows the average altitude offset for each density when the direction of the offset is included; a negative offset indicates the aircraft are on average loaded lower than the altitude requested. Again, the RM0 request method is more efficient at loading aircraft closer to the request altitude than the RM1 entry request method. The biggest

difference in the loading is that the average under the RM0 entry request method is positive and is negative under the RM1 entry request method. This is due in part to the data sets available for some aircraft models and that every aircraft is required to be loaded into the tracks at an altitude within the flight envelope for that particular aircraft model. Requesting 1,000 feet higher at entry means that there are fewer altitudes above the requested altitude for the aircraft to be loaded (even for the most complete aircraft model). Thus, the likelihood of being loaded at a lower altitude than requested increases.

	RM0	RM1	Difference
			between RM1 &
			RM0
Low	0.18811	0.425022	0.236912
Medium	0.409294	0.664823	0.255529
High	0.486131	0.724572	0.238441
Ultra	0.673722	0.957504	0.283782

Table 11: Magnitude of average altitude from requested altitude (thousands of feet)

Тя	ble 12:	Average	altitude	from	requested	altitude	(thousands	of	feet)
			minum	nom	- cyacowa	muuuu	(cmo a been ab	U 1	1000

	RM0	RM1	Difference
			between RM1 &
			RM0
Low	0.073647	-0.20674	-0.28039
Medium	0.146237	-0.19906	-0.3453
High	0.136763	-0.21251	-0.34928
Ultra	0.111029	-0.33008	-0.44111

Conclusions

The experiment described in this paper investigated the effects on the NATOTS of implementing the ADS-B ITP. The use of the ITP was tested under various experiment conditions representing the NATOTS today and expected in the near future. These conditions included variations in traffic density, ADS-B equipage environment, the capability of aircraft to use the ITP, and the method used by aircraft to select and request an entry altitude into the NATOTS. The scenarios used in this experiment were specifically designed to accurately simulate traffic patterns and operations based on recorded data from the NATOTS. The design made use of the distribution of aircraft across the individual tracks of the NATOTS, the distribution of the inter-arrival times of aircraft at the entrance to the NATOTS, and the total number of aircraft loaded into the NATOTS. The experiment required the development of new capabilities and enhancements to existing functionality in TMX, the simulation environment. This preparation and design effort allowed for a realistic simulation of the NATOTS and strong confidence in the results presented.

Data collected during the experiment were analyzed across three main categories: 1) altitude requests and approval rates, 2) fuel savings, and 3) track efficiency. Criteria in each category were compared across four variables: 1) ADS-B equipage level, 2) traffic density, 3) procedural capability, and 4) track entry request method.

The first category examined altitude requests made by aircraft and the corresponding request approval rates. Within this experiment, and the current NATOTS, there are many opportunities for

aircraft to change altitude. In the baseline scenarios used in this experiment (which were equivalent to current operations in the NATOTS), 25% to 75% of the aircraft could have made desired altitude changes. Unfortunately, the current system does not take advantage of all of these opportunities. Therefore, the simulation did not use all opportunities. The availability to maneuver decreased when traffic density increased. However, the use of the ITP increased when traffic density increased. The percentage of the total requests that made use of the ITP increased from less than 5% under most low density conditions to between 10%–25 % under the higher traffic density conditions. The use of the ITP increased the average percentage of aircraft that made altitude change requests as much as 20% under the ultra traffic density. While the use of the ITP increased the average percentage of aircraft that made altitude change requests that were approved. There were even cases where the approval rate of requests was higher without the use of the ITP. The lack of change in the percentage of approvals is primarily because the use of ITP requests was much less than the use of standard altitude change requests.

The second category examined fuel savings. Analysis of normalized fuel flow data showed that the use of the ITP provided a benefit in fuel savings compared to baseline non-ADS-B simulation runs. However, this fuel savings was not as large as the savings from making standard requests when appropriate. Increased knowledge of when to make a standard request came from an ADS-B IN display. Such a display is likely to comprise part of any ITP installation. The average fuel savings decreased with increasing traffic density, but the portion of the savings that was attributed to the ITP increased with increasing traffic density. The analysis also looked at fuel savings as a distribution across all aircraft. The distribution showed that the majority of the aircraft had no change (less than ± 10 lbs/hr) in the flight between an experiment condition and the baseline. The number of aircraft outside the 10 lbs/hr band increased with the use of the ITP and increased even more with increased levels of ADS-B equipage. While there was a shift in the distribution toward larger savings and more aircraft experiencing savings for those aircraft equipped with ADS-B IN or ADS-B IN and ITP, there was no significant change in the distribution of the savings for the non-ADS-B IN equipped aircraft. A significant result is that the voluntary introduction of new technology into the system did not cause a detriment to unequipped aircraft.

The third category examined track efficiency. The analysis looked at data across two track entry request methods used to load the track system. The two methods were based on current airline procedures. The first method (referred to as RM0) assumed that the aircraft will be able to make altitude changes during the crossing. The aircraft therefore requests to enter the track system at the present optimum altitude. The second method (referred to as RM1) assumed that the aircraft would not be able to climb at all during the crossing. In this situation, the aircraft determined a compromise altitude that would place most of the flight at or near the optimum altitude for as much of the flight as possible. The second method also assumed that the RM0 method of track loading was more efficient than the RM1 method of track loading. This efficiency was judged according to how close to the requested altitude the aircraft were loaded. This result cannot necessarily be directly carried over into actual operations, since a mix of RM0 and RM1 requests occur in the actual NATOTS. Further analysis is needed with an enhanced request method.

The use of the ITP in the NATOTS might be limited. However, the equipment used for the ITP can be used for an entire suite of advanced ADS-B applications, such as merging and spacing, enhanced visual acquisition, or improved ground surveillance. When put together with additional applications, the ITP could provide a very strong component of a suite of ADS-B applications. When the ITP is implemented with a graphical traffic display, the situation awareness that can be gained about surrounding traffic can provide even more benefit. The knowledge of the location of other aircraft in the local airspace can provide a means for pilots to make more informed requests to ATC, even with no change to current day procedures and policies. This aspect of the ITP equipment is what contributes most benefits in the NATOTS environment found in this experiment. This experiment demonstrated that even

when aircraft were equipped with the ITP as a capability, most altitude change requests were non-ITP requests. In the North Atlantic, the ITP equipment (if implemented with a graphical display) will provide more benefit than the use of a new procedure and separation standard. The ITP may provide a larger portion of the benefits in a different oceanic region, such as the South Pacific (SOPAC) or the Pacific Organized Track System (PACOTS). These regions experience much lower traffic loads but have similar traffic situations as the NATOTS in that aircraft can be blocked from changing altitude for long periods of time.

References

- [1] Federal Aviation Administration. www.faa.gov/about/office_org/headquarters_offices/ato/service_units/enroute/surveillance_broad cast/ Accessed October 30, 2007
- [2] Air Services Australia. www.airservicesaustralia.com/pilotcentre/projects/adsb/default.asp Accessed October 30, 2007
- [3] Eurocontrol. <u>www.eurocontrol.int/cascade/public/subsite_homepage/homepage.html Accessed</u> October 30, 2007
- [4] North Atlantic Systems Planning Group, Application of Separation Minima (North Atlantic Region) v1.0, ICAO European and North Atlantic Office, 29 September 2005
- [5] Murdoch, J.L., Bussink, F.J.L., Chamberlain, J.P., Chartrand, R.C., Palmer, M.T., Palmer, S.O., Enhanced Oceanic Operations Human-In-The-Loop In-Trail Procedure Validation Simulation Study, NASA Technical Paper, TP-2008-215313, June 2008.
- [6] RTCA, Minimum Operational Performance Standards for 1090 MHz Automatic Dependent Surveillance – Broadcast (ADS-B) and Traffic Information Services Broadcast (TIS-B), DO-260A, Washington, DC, April 10, 2003
- [7] RTCA, Minimum Aviation System Performance Standards for Automatic Dependent Surveillance Broadcast (ADS-B), DO-242A, Washington, DC, June 25, 2002
- [8] EUROCAE ED-159: Safety, Performance and Interoperability Requirements Document for ATSA-ITP Application, May 2008.
- [9] Bussink, F.J.L., Hoekstra, J., Heesbeen, W., Traffic Manager: A Flexible Desktop Simulation Tool Enabling Future ATM Research, 24th Digital Avionics Systems Conference, October 2005, Washington DC
- [10] Nuic, A., 2003, User Manual for the Base of Aircraft Data (BADA) Revision 3.5, Eurocontrol Experimental Centre, Bretigny, France <u>http://www.eurocontrol.int/eec/public/standard_page/ACE_bada.html Accessed November 14, 2006</u>
- [11] NOAA National Operational Model Archive & Distribution System. http://nomads.ncdc.noaa.gov/#ncep_datasets Accessed March 2007-Present
- [12] Rockwell Collins. http://www.rockwellcollins.com/ecat/at/ACAS-900_2.html#N27724 Accessed October 30, 2007

Appendix A NOTAM for NATOTS - March 7, 2005

061401 CZOXZOZX (NAT-1/2 TRACKS FLS 310/400 INCLUSIVE MAR 07/0100Z TO MAR 07/0800Z PART ONE OF TWO PARTS-U YQX KOBEV 50/50 53/40 55/30 55/20 RESNO NIBOG NURSI EAST LVLS 320 330 340 350 360 370 380 390 400 WEST LVLS NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL NAR N79B N83B N85A-V VIXUN LOGSU 49/50 52/40 54/30 54/20 DOGAL BABAN EAST LVLS 320 330 340 350 360 370 380 390 400 WEST LVLS NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL NAR N63B N67B-W YYT NOVEP 48/50 51/40 53/30 53/20 MALOT BURAK EAST LVLS 320 330 340 350 360 370 380 390 400 WEST LVLS NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL NAR N53B N59A-X COLOR RONPO 47/50 50/40 52/30 52/20 LIMRI DOLIP EAST LVLS 320 330 340 350 360 370 380 390 400 WEST LVLS NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL NAR N43A N49A-Y BANCS URTAK 46/50 49/40 51/30 51/20 DINIM GIPER EAST LVLS 320 330 340 350 360 370 380 390 400 WEST LVLS NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL NAR N35A N41C-END OF PART ONE OF TWO PARTS)

061402 CZQXZQZX (NAT-2/2 TRACKS FLS 310/400 INCLUSIVE MAR 07/0100Z TO MAR 07/0800Z PART TWO OF TWO PARTS-Z CLXTN 38/60 43/50 47/40 50/30 50/20 SOMAX KENUK EAST LVLS 310 340 380 WEST LVLS NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL EUR RTS EAST NIL NAR NIL-REMARKS: 1.TRACK MESSAGE IDENTIFICATION NUMBER IS 066 AND OPERATORS ARE REMINDED TO INCLUDE THE TMI NUMBER AS PART OF THE OCEANIC CLEARANCE READ BACK. 2.CLEARANCE DELIVERY FREQUENCY ASSIGNMENTS FOR AIRCRAFT OPERATING FROM MOATT TO BOBTU INCLUSIVE: MOATT TO SCROD 128.7 OYSTR TO CYNON 135.45 YQX TO VIXUN 135.05 YYT TO COLOR 128.45 BANCS TO BOBTU 119.42 3.80 PERCENTAGE OF GROSS NAVIGATIONAL ERRORS RESULT FROM POOR COCKPIT PROCEDURES. ALWAYS CARRY OUT PROPER WAYPOINT CHECKS. 4.OPERATORS SHOULD NOTE THAT NERS IDENTIFIER IS NOT TO BE INCLUDED IN FIELD 15 OF THE FLIGHT PLAN UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES. END OF PART TWO OF TWO PARTS)

Appendix B Average count of aircraft experiencing a fuel savings or penalty

		LC	W		MEDIUM				
	Unequ	uipped	ADS	ADS-B IN		Unequipped		BIN	
	aircrai	t with	aircrai	t with	aircraft with		aircrai	twith	
Equipage level	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	
30_10	5.5	5.1	6.4	0.0	6.1	7.3	7.2	0.2	
60_10	5.5	5.0	6.4	0.0	6.8	6.9	7.2	0.2	
90_10	4.6	4.7	6.4	0.0	6.2	6.8	7.0	0.1	
60_45	3.3	2.6	29.1	0.3	4.6	4.4	36.1	0.8	
90_45	3.1	2.5	29.3	0.3	4.4	4.1	36.7	0.7	
90_80	1.2	1.0	56.8	0.6	1.6	1.5	75.0	1.2	
					-				
		HI	GH			ULI	ΓRA		
	Unequ	iipped	ADS	-B IN	Unequipped		ADS-B IN		
	aircraf	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircraft with		aircraft with		
Equipage level	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	
30_10	6.9	6.6	7.2	0.2	5.8	5.8	6.4	0.3	
60_10	7.9	5.9	7.4	0.3	6.4	5.8	6.4	0.3	
90_10	6.2	5.9	7.3	0.1	6.6	5.9	6.5	0.4	
60_45	4.1	3.8	37.8	0.7	3.2	3.3	34.2	1.2	
90_45	4.3	3.8	38.4	0.7	4.0	3.2	34.6	1.2	
90_80	1.3	1.3	76.1	1.3	1.2	1.1	67.0	2.4	

Aircraft count for RM1-SA scenarios

		LC	W		MEDIUM			
	Unequ	uipped	ADS	-B IN	Unequ	iipped	ADS-	-B IN
	aircraf	ft with	aircraft with		aircraft with		aircraft with	
Equipage	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty
level								
30_10	5.7	4.8	6.3	0.0	7.2	6.7	7.9	0.2
60_10	5.8	4.7	6.8	0.0	6.0	6.6	7.6	0.2
90_10	5.3	4.9	6.8	0.0	6.6	6.8	8.4	0.2
60_45	3.5	2.3	30.2	0.4	3.5	4.4	38.2	0.8
90_45	3.7	2.7	30.6	0.4	4.4	4.8	41.0	0.8
90_80	2.0	0.9	58.7	0.7	1.5	1.4	82.1	1.4
		HI	GH			ULI	ΓRA	
	Unequ	uipped	ADS	-B IN	Unequipped		ADS-B IN	
	aircraf	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircraft with		aircraft with	
Equipage	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty
level								
30_10	6.7	6.1	7.6	0.2	5.0	5.3	6.9	0.3
60_10	5.9	6.1	8.2	0.2	5.0	5.6	7.4	0.3
90_10	6.9	6.6	8.7	0.1	6.1	5.3	7.8	0.3
60_45	4.6	4.0	40.4	0.8	4.1	3.7	38.2	1.3
90_45	3.5	4.0	42.7	0.6	3.3	3.3	41.1	1.4
90_80	1.8	1.3	82.4	1.6	1.3	1.1	79.6	2.6

Aircraft count for RM1-SA+ITP scenarios

Aircraft count for RM0-SA scenarios

		LC	W		MEDIUM					
	Unequ	iipped	ADS	-B IN	Unequ	iipped	ADS-	BIN		
	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircraft with		aircraft with			
Equipage	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty		
level										
30_10	7.7	6.4	8.9	0.1	8.1	7.3	10.5	0.1		
60_10	6.4	6.3	8.9	0.1	8.6	7.2	10.5	0.1		
90_10	7.3	6.2	9.0	0.1	7.7	7.4	10.5	0.1		
60_45	3.8	3.7	41.7	0.3	5.6	4.6	56.9	0.6		
90_45	4.4	4.1	41.9	0.3	4.8	4.7	57.1	0.5		
90_80	1.6	1.3	82.0	0.4	2.7	1.6	120.4	0.9		
		HI	GH			ULTRA				
	Unequ	uipped	ADS	-B IN	Unequipped		ADS-B IN			
	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircraft with			
Equipage	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty		
level										
30_10	7.6	9.1	11.0	0.1	8.0	6.8	10.0	0.2		
60_10	9.2	9.2	11.3	0.1	7.4	7.0	9.8	0.2		
90_10	9.2	8.9	11.5	0.2	7.9	6.9	9.9	0.2		
60_45	5.3	5.4	60.5	0.8	5.2	4.5	55.1	0.7		
90_45	5.8	5.7	60.9	0.9	5.1	4.4	55.2	0.7		

90_80	2.2	2.3	128.8	1.6	2.5	1.7	121.6	1.5	
Aircraft c	ount for H	RM0-SA-	ITP scen	arios					
		LC)W		MEDIUM				
	Unequ	uipped	ADS	-B IN	Unequ	iipped	ADS-B IN		
	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	
Equipage level	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	
30 10	7.1	6.3	9.0	0.1	7.2	7.2	11.1	0.2	
60 10	7.2	6.3	9.4	0.1	8.4	7.2	11.9	0.2	
90 10	6.2	6.1	9.9	0.1	7.7	7.4	13.5	0.2	
60 45	4.7	3.9	42.0	0.3	5.4	4.7	61.9	1.0	
90 45	4.7	4.2	45.2	0.4	6.0	4.6	68.7	1.3	
90_80	1.3	1.6	84.1	0.7	2.3	1.8	128.5	2.3	
			CU			יחז	гр а		
	Unog	111 vinnad			Linoa	UL.			
	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	ft with	aircrat	aircraft with		t with	
Equipage level	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	Savings	Penalty	
30 10	8.5	9.1	11.6	0.2	7.6	6.9	10.8	0.2	
60 10	8.6	9.1	13.3	0.2	7.5	6.5	12.9	0.2	
90_10	8.8	8.8	15.7	0.2	7.1	6.8	14.3	0.2	
60_45	5.7	5.5	65.6	1.1	6.3	4.3	63.4	1.2	
90_45	5.2	5.4	75.0	1.3	6.2	4.7	75.7	1.2	
90 80	2.2	2.1	142.1	2.4	2.4	1.6	150.1	2.3	

	RE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188					
The public reportir gathering and mai collection of inform Reports (0704-018 shall be subject to PLEASE DO NOT	ng burden for this colle ntaining the data need nation, including sugge 88), 1215 Jefferson Da any penalty for failing RETURN YOUR FOR	ection of information is led, and completing a astions for reducing th avis Highway, Suite 12 to comply with a colle RM TO THE ABOVE	s estimated to average 1 hour pe ind reviewing the collection of ini his burden, to Department of Def 204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. ection of information if it does no ADDRESS.	er response, includi formation. Send co fense, Washington Respondents shou t display a currently	ng the tim mments r Headquar Ild be awa y valid OM	e for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, egarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this ters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and are that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person IB control number.		
1. REPORT D/	ATE <i>(DD-MM-YY</i> 10 - 2009	(YY) 2. REPO	ORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)		
4. TITLE AND	SUBTITLE				5a. CC	I DNTRACT NUMBER		
Operational In	mprovements I	From Using the	e In-Trail Procedure i	in the North				
Atlantic Orga	nized Track Sy	ystem		5b. Gl	RANT NUMBER			
					5c. PF	ROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER		
6. AUTHOR(S	5)				5d. PF	ROJECT NUMBER		
Chartrand, Ry	van C.; Bussinl	c, Frank J.; Gr	aff, Thomas J.;					
Jones, Kenne	th M.				5e. TA	ASK NUMBER		
					5f. WC	DRK UNIT NUMBER		
					41193	31.02.51.07.01		
7. PERFORM			AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER		
Hampton VA	$23681_{-}2199$	enter						
Thumpton, VI	25001 2155					L-19466		
9. SPONSOR	ING/MONITORI	NG AGENCY NA	AME(S) AND ADDRESS	(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
National Aero Washington	onautics and Sp DC 20546-00	pace Administ	ration			NASA		
, assumption,	20010 000					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT		
						NASA/TM-2009-215939		
12. DISTRIBUT	ION/AVAILABI	ITY STATEME	NT					
Unclassified -	Unlimited							
Subject Categ	ory 03 NASA CASL	(443) 757-580	2					
13 SUDDI EMI		(2					
13. SOFFELM		,						
14. ABSTRACT	Г							
This paper explains the computerized batch processing experiment examining the operational impacts of the introduction of Automatic Dependant Surveillance-Broadcast (ADS-B) equipment and the In-Trail Procedure (ITP) to the North Atlantic Organized Track System. This experiment was conducted using the Traffic Manager (TMX), a desktop simulation capable of simulating airspace environments and aircraft operations. ADS-B equipment can enable the use of new ground and airborne procedures, such as the ITP. ITP is among the first of these new procedures, which will make use of improved situation awareness in the local surrounding airspace of ADS-B equipped aircraft to enable more efficient oceanic flight level changes. The collected data were analyzed with respect to multiple operationally relevant parameters including fuel burn, request approval rates, and the distribution of fuel savings. This experiment showed that through the use of ADS-B or ADS-B and the ITP that operational improvements and benefits could be achieved.								
Automatic De	i EKMÖ mendant Surve	illance_Brood	cast. ADS_R. North	Atlantic Oree	nized	Track System · In-Trail Procedure ITD		
	penuant Surve	ance-D1080	ναδι, ΑΝΟ-Ο, ΝΟΓΙΠ Α	suantie Orga	mzeu	Track System, III-Trail Flocedure; IIF		
16. SECURITY	CLASSIFICATIO	ON OF:	17. LIMITATION OF	18. NUMBER	19a.	NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON		
a. REPORT	a. REPORT b. ABSTRACT c. THIS PAGE ABSTRACT OF PAGES				STI Help Desk (email: help@sti.nasa.gov)			
					19b. '	TELEPHONE NUMBER (Include area code)		
U	U	U	UU	51		(443) 757-5802		

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18